
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

Kent County Council 
 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
 

Tuesday, 8th February, 2011, at 12.30 pm Ask for: Andrew Tait 
Thanet District Council, Cecil Street, 
Margate 

Telephone 01622 694342 

   
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

 
Membership  
 
Mr M J Harrison (Chair), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), Mr J A Davies, 
Mr S J G Koowaree and Mr R A Pascoe 
 

 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 

 
 

1. Declarations of Interest by Members for items on the agenda  

2. Application to register land at Mill Lane, Preston as a new Village Green (Pages 1 - 
14) 

3. Application to register land at the High Street, Chiddingstone as a new Village 
Green (Pages 15 - 30) 

4. Application to register land known as Gighill Green, Larkfield as a new Village 
Green (Pages 31 - 44) 

5. Application to register land at Park Avenue, Broadstairs as a new Town Green 
(Pages 45 - 76) 

6. Application to register land adjacent to Barnes Car Park, Westbrook as a new 
Town Green (Pages 77 - 104) 

7. Other items which the Chairman decides are Urgent  

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 



 
Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services and Local Leadership 
(01622) 694002 
 
Monday, 31 January 2011 
 
 



Application to register land at Mill Lane in the parish of
Preston as a new Village Green 

A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s 
Regulation Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 8th February 2011. 

Recommendation: I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant 
that the application to register the land at Mill Lane in Preston has been 
accepted, and that the land subject to the application be formally registered as 
a Village Green. 

Local Member:  Mr. L. Ridings     Unrestricted item 

Introduction

1. The County Council has received an application to register land at Mill Lane in 
Preston, near Canterbury as a new Village Green from Mrs. E. Robinson (“the 
applicant”). The application, dated 1st April 2010, was allocated the application 
number VGA626. A plan of the site is shown at Appendix A to this report and a 
copy of the application form is attached at Appendix B.

Procedure

2. Traditionally, Town and Village Greens have derived from customary law and until 
recently it was only possible to register land as a new Town or Village Green 
where certain qualifying criteria were met: i.e. where it could be shown that the 
land in question had been used ‘as of right’ for recreational purposes by the local 
residents for a period of at least 20 years. 

3. However, a new provision has been introduced by the Commons Act 2006 which 
enables the owner of any land to apply to voluntarily register the land as a new 
Village Green without having to meet the qualifying criteria. Section 15 states: 

“(8) The owner of any land may apply to the Commons Registration Authority 
to register the land as a town or village green. 
(9) An application under subsection (8) may only be made with the consent of 
any relevant leaseholder of, and the proprietor of any relevant charge over, 
the land.” 

4. Land which is voluntarily registered as a Town or Village Green under section 
15(8) of the Commons Act 2006 enjoys the same level of statutory protection as 
that of all other registered greens and local people will have a guaranteed right to 
use the land for informal recreational purposes in perpetuity. This means that 
once the land is registered it cannot be removed from the formal Register of Town 
or Village Greens (other than by statutory process) and must be kept free of 
development or other encroachments. 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



5. In determining the application, the County Council must consider very carefully 
the relevant legal tests. In the present case, it must be satisfied that the applicant 
is the owner of the land and that any necessary consents have been obtained 
(e.g. from a tenant or the owner of a relevant charge). Provided that these tests 
are met, then the County Council is under a duty to grant the application and 
register the land as a Town or Village Green. 

The Case 

Description of the land

6. The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) consists of a 
grassy meadow of approximately 1.2 acres (0.5 hectares) in size situated 
opposite Hardacre House on Mill Lane in the parish of Preston. The application 
site is bordered by fencing and hedges, and includes a small pond. Photographs 
of the site are attached at Appendix C.

Notice of Application

7. As required by the regulations, Notice of the application was published on the 
County Council’s website. In addition, copies of the notice were displayed on the 
application site itself. The local County Member was also informed of the 
application. 

8. The local County Member, Mr. L. Ridings wrote to confirm that he, along with the 
Parish Council, were both fully supportive of the application. 

Ownership of the land

9. A Land Registry search has been undertaken which confirms that the application 
site is wholly owned by the applicant under title number K174149. A copy of the 
Register of Title is attached at Appendix D.

10. There are no other interested parties (e.g. leaseholders or owners of relevant 
charges) named on the Register of Title. 

The ‘locality’

11. DEFRA’s view is that once land is registered as a Town or Village Green, only the 
residents of the locality have the legal right to use the land for the purposes of 
lawful sports and pastimes. It is therefore necessary to identify the locality in 
which the users of the land reside.

12. A locality for these purposes normally consists of a recognised administrative 
area (e.g. civil parish or electoral ward) or a cohesive entity (such as a village or 
housing estate). 

13. In this case, the reason for the application is that the applicant is a former resident 
of the village of Preston and wishes to present the land as a gift to the villagers on 
the understanding that it is used as a place of peace and relaxation in perpetuity. 

Page 2



It is her also wish that the land be kept as a natural open space in order to 
continue to give pleasure to and benefit future generations of Preston villagers. 
The intention is to transfer the ownership of the land to the Preston Parish Council 
once the relevant procedures in relation to the Village Green application have 
been completed. 

14. As such, it seems appropriate that the relevant locality in this case should be 
defined as the civil parish of Preston. 

Conclusion

15. As stated at paragraph 3 above, the relevant criteria for the voluntary registration 
of land as a new Town or Village Green under section 15(8) of the Commons Act 
2006 requires only that the County Council is satisfied that the land is owned by 
the applicant. There is no need for the applicant to demonstrate use of the land 
‘as of right’ for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes over a particular 
period.

16. It can be concluded that all the necessary criteria concerning the voluntary 
registration of the land as a Village Green have been met.  

Recommendations

17. I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant that the application to 
register the land at Mill Lane in Preston has been accepted, and that the land 
subject to the application be formally registered as a Village Green. 

Accountable Officer:
Dr. Linda Davies – Tel: 01622 221500 or Email: linda.davies@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Miss. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 01622 221628 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Environment and Waste 
Division, Environment and Regeneration Directorate, Invicta House, County Hall, 
Maidstone. Please contact the case officer for further details. 

Background documents 

APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B – Copy of application form 
APPENDIX C – Photographs of the application site 
APPENDIX D – Copy of the Register of Title from Land Registry 

Page 3



Roseway

Berario

and
Half Moon

Half Moon House

Seminole

Seven Stars
(PH)

Ferndale

Low Lands

Ashton

Nursery

Stone

Pond Pond

Kelway

Cottage

Meadow

Cottage

Gable End

Woodville

T
H

E
S

T
R

E
E

T

15.9m

Bishop
Jenner

6

1

Court

The Old Church

Preston House

Cottage

1

Cottages

Preston

Old

2

Thatch

3

Exchange

Pryer House

Whitecroft

Telephone

Ashmane Preston
Alpenhof

Phoenix

Green

The

Cottage

Swan House

The Cottage

Pond

Track

T
C

B

The

The Haven

Farm
Treebrooke

ShelterTrack

Street

14.5m

Cherry Trees

1

Stores

Martindale

Campion

Stone

Cottages

6

14

Calafell

Luckett

2

S
T

R
E

E
T

1

Oast

T
H

E

1

The Old

Dalhousie

T
H

E
D

O
W

N
S

10

S
H

O
T

F
IE

L
D

C
L
O

S
E

2

3

13.6m

MILL LANE

Cottage

L
o

d
g

e

H
a
ll

15.6m

4

Horseshoe

Primary School

House

Hardacre

Path (um)

T
ra

c
k

9

3

15.3m

ston

Japonica
Cottages

1

11

Bay Tree

White Gables

Stone

MILL LANE

Track

Track

H
o

ll
y

Preston

Playing Field

Farm
Oast

Luckett

Hardacre
Farm

Cottage

Hardacre Farm

1-2 Wayside

Hatchers Farm

Old Post Office

Riva

625000.000000

625000.000000

625250.000000

625250.000000

1
6

0
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

0
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

1
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

1
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

1
2

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

1
2

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

µ
Scale 1:2500

Land subject to Village Green application at
Mill Lane in Preston (near Canterbury)

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing the application site

Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



APPENDIX C: 
Photographs showing the 

application site 

Above: photograph taken opposite Hardwick House looking west across the site

Below: aerial photograph (2008) showing the application site edged in red 

625200.000000

625200.000000

1
6

1
0

0
0

.0
0
0

0
0
0

1
6

1
0

0
0

.0
0
0

0
0
0

Above: aerial photograph (2008) showing the application site edged in red 

Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Application to register land at High Street in the parish of  
Chiddingstone as a new Village Green 

A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s 
Regulation Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 8th February 2011. 

Recommendation: I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant 
that the application to register the land at the High Street in Chiddingstone has 
been accepted, and that the land subject to the application be formally 
registered as a Village Green. 

Local Member:  Mr. P. Lake     Unrestricted item 

Introduction

1. The County Council has received an application to register land at the High Street 
in Chiddingstone, near Sevenoaks as a new Village Green from the 
Chiddingstone Parish Council (“the applicant”). The application, dated 28th

September 2009, was allocated the application number VGA618. A plan of the 
site is shown at Appendix A to this report and a copy of the application form is 
attached at Appendix B.

Procedure

2. Traditionally, Town and Village Greens have derived from customary law and until 
recently it was only possible to register land as a new Town or Village Green 
where certain qualifying criteria were met: i.e. where it could be shown that the 
land in question had been used ‘as of right’ for recreational purposes by the local 
residents for a period of at least 20 years. 

3. However, a new provision has been introduced by the Commons Act 2006 which 
enables the owner of any land to apply to voluntarily register the land as a new 
Village Green without having to meet the qualifying criteria. Section 15 states: 

“(8) The owner of any land may apply to the Commons Registration Authority 
to register the land as a town or village green. 
(9) An application under subsection (8) may only be made with the consent of 
any relevant leaseholder of, and the proprietor of any relevant charge over, 
the land.” 

4. Land which is voluntarily registered as a Town or Village Green under section 
15(8) of the Commons Act 2006 enjoys the same level of statutory protection as 
that of all other registered greens and local people will have a guaranteed right to 
use the land for informal recreational purposes in perpetuity. This means that 
once the land is registered it cannot be removed from the formal Register of Town 
or Village Greens (other than by statutory process) and must be kept free of 
development or other encroachments. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 15



5. In determining the application, the County Council must consider very carefully 
the relevant legal tests. In the present case, it must be satisfied that the applicant 
is the owner of the land and that any necessary consents have been obtained 
(e.g. from a tenant or the owner of a relevant charge). Provided that these tests 
are met, then the County Council is under a duty to grant the application and 
register the land as a Town or Village Green. 

The Case 

Description of the land

6. The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) consists of a 
small area of grassed open space of approximately 260 square metres in size 
situated in front of the Rectory on the High Street in the parish of Chiddingstone. 
Photographs of the site are attached at Appendix C.

Notice of Application

7. As required by the regulations, Notice of the application was published on the 
County Council’s website. In addition, copies of the notice were displayed on the 
application site itself. The local County Member was also informed of the 
application. 

Ownership of the land

8. A Land Registry search has been undertaken which confirms that the application 
site is wholly owned by the applicant under title number K725597. A copy of the 
Register of Title is attached at Appendix D.

9. There are no other interested parties (e.g. leaseholders or owners of relevant 
charges) named on the Register of Title. 

The ‘locality’

10. DEFRA’s view is that once land is registered as a Town or Village Green, only the 
residents of the locality have the legal right to use the land for the purposes of 
lawful sports and pastimes. It is therefore necessary to identify the locality in 
which the users of the land reside.

11. A locality for these purposes normally consists of a recognised administrative 
area (e.g. civil parish or electoral ward) or a cohesive entity (such as a village or 
housing estate). 

12. In this case, the application has been made by the local Parish Council in order 
that the land be preserved against any future development. As such, it seems 
appropriate that the relevant locality in this case should be defined as the civil 
parish of Chiddingstone. 

Page 16



Conclusion

13. As stated at paragraph 3 above, the relevant criteria for the voluntary registration 
of land as a new Town or Village Green under section 15(8) of the Commons Act 
2006 requires only that the County Council is satisfied that the land is owned by 
the applicant. There is no need for the applicant to demonstrate use of the land 
‘as of right’ for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes over a particular 
period.

14. It can be concluded that all the necessary criteria concerning the voluntary 
registration of the land as a Village Green have been met.  

Recommendations

15. I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant that the application to 
register the land at the High Street in Chiddingstone has been accepted, and that 
the land subject to the application be formally registered as a Village Green. 

Accountable Officer:
Dr. Linda Davies – Tel: 01622 221500 or Email: linda.davies@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Miss. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 01622 221628 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Environment and Waste 
Division, Environment and Regeneration Directorate, Invicta House, County Hall, 
Maidstone. Please contact the case officer for further details. 

Background documents 

APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B – Copy of application form 
APPENDIX C – Photographs of the application site 
APPENDIX D – Copy of the Register of Title from Land Registry 

Page 17



War Memorial

1

St Mary's Church

Primary School

51.9m

Parish Room

Chiddingstone

Path

The Rectory

P
a

th
 (u

m
)

Coachmans

Glebe House

Cemetery

Lych Gate

550250.000000

550250.000000

1
4

5
2

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
4

5
2

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

®
Scale 1:1000

Land subject to Village Green application 
at the High Street, Chiddingstone

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing application site

Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



APPENDIX C: 
Photographs showing application site 

Above: View from High Street looking SOUTH-WEST towards Primary School 

Below: View from High Street looking SOUTH-EAST 

Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



Application to register land known as Gighill Green in the parish of 
East Malling and Larkfield as a new Village Green 

A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s 
Regulation Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 8th February 2011. 

Recommendation: I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant 
that the application to register the land known as Gighill Green at Larkfield has 
been accepted, and that the land subject to the application be formally 
registered as a Village Green. 

Local Member:  Mrs. T. Dean     Unrestricted item 

Introduction

1. The County Council has received an application to register land known as Gighill 
Green at Larkfield as a new Village Green from the East Malling and Larkfield 
Parish Council (“the applicant”). The application, dated 9th March 2010, was 
allocated the application number VGA624. A plan of the site is shown at 
Appendix A to this report and a copy of the application form is attached at 
Appendix B.

Procedure

2. Traditionally, Town and Village Greens have derived from customary law and until 
recently it was only possible to register land as a new Town or Village Green 
where certain qualifying criteria were met: i.e. where it could be shown that the 
land in question had been used ‘as of right’ for recreational purposes by the local 
residents for a period of at least 20 years. 

3. However, a new provision has been introduced by the Commons Act 2006 which 
enables the owner of any land to apply to voluntarily register the land as a new 
Village Green without having to meet the qualifying criteria. Section 15 states: 

“(8) The owner of any land may apply to the Commons Registration Authority 
to register the land as a town or village green. 
(9) An application under subsection (8) may only be made with the consent of 
any relevant leaseholder of, and the proprietor of any relevant charge over, 
the land.” 

4. Land which is voluntarily registered as a Town or Village Green under section 
15(8) of the Commons Act 2006 enjoys the same level of statutory protection as 
that of all other registered greens and local people will have a guaranteed right to 
use the land for informal recreational purposes in perpetuity. This means that 
once the land is registered it cannot be removed from the formal Register of Town 
or Village Greens (other than by statutory process) and must be kept free of 
development or other encroachments. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 31



5. In determining the application, the County Council must consider very carefully 
the relevant legal tests. In the present case, it must be satisfied that the applicant 
is the owner of the land and that any necessary consents have been obtained 
(e.g. from a tenant or the owner of a relevant charge). Provided that these tests 
are met, then the County Council is under a duty to grant the application and 
register the land as a Town or Village Green. 

The Case 

Description of the land

6. The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) consists of a 
playing field of approximately 0.86 hectares (2.1 acres) in size which is situated 
on Lunsford Lane in the parish of East Malling and Larkfield. Photographs of the 
site are attached at Appendix C.

Notice of Application

7. As required by the regulations, Notice of the application was published on the 
County Council’s website. In addition, copies of the notice were displayed on the 
application site itself. The local County Member was also informed of the 
application and wrote to confirm her support for the application. 

Ownership of the land

8. A Land Registry search has been undertaken which confirms that the application 
site is wholly owned by the applicant under title number K463905. A copy of the 
Register of Title is attached at Appendix D.

9. There are no other interested parties (e.g. leaseholders or owners of relevant 
charges) named on the Register of Title. 

The ‘locality’

10. DEFRA’s view is that once land is registered as a Town or Village Green, only the 
residents of the locality have the legal right to use the land for the purposes of 
lawful sports and pastimes. It is therefore necessary to identify the locality in 
which the users of the land reside.

11. A locality for these purposes normally consists of a recognised administrative 
area (e.g. civil parish or electoral ward) or a cohesive entity (such as a village or 
housing estate). 

12. In this case, the application has been made by the local Parish Council. As such, 
it seems appropriate that the relevant locality in this case should be defined as 
the civil parish of East Malling and Larkfield. 

Page 32



Conclusion

13. As stated at paragraph 3 above, the relevant criteria for the voluntary registration 
of land as a new Town or Village Green under section 15(8) of the Commons Act 
2006 requires only that the County Council is satisfied that the land is owned by 
the applicant. There is no need for the applicant to demonstrate use of the land 
‘as of right’ for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes over a particular 
period.

14. It can be concluded that all the necessary criteria concerning the voluntary 
registration of the land as a Village Green have been met.  

Recommendations

15. I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant that the application to 
register the land known as Gighill Green at Larkfield has been accepted, and that 
the land subject to the application be formally registered as a Village Green. 

Accountable Officer:
Dr. Linda Davies – Tel: 01622 221500 or Email: linda.davies@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Miss. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 01622 221628 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Environment and Waste 
Division, Environment and Regeneration Directorate, Invicta House, County Hall, 
Maidstone. Please contact the case officer for further details. 

Background documents 

APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B – Copy of application form 
APPENDIX C – Photographs of the application site 
APPENDIX D – Copy of the Register of Title from Land Registry 

Page 33



Ward Bdy

CR

1
7

259

2
3

1

C
A

R
R

O
L

L
 G

A
R

D
E

N
S

1
6

5

4

278

C
H

A
U

C
E

R
 W

A
Y

5
5

66 91

5

19.9m Lunsford

2
4

2
4
9

2
5

El Sub Sta

E
T

L

1
7

1
3

1
6

1
1
1

8

1
0
7

3
1

K
E

A
T

S
 R

O
A

D

2
0

106

5
9

6
4

103

2
3
7

42

4
1

L
U

N
S

F
O

R
D

 L
A

N
E

3
5

5
4

6
9

7
4

47

8
1

53

75

61

60 64
98

97

9
8

1
0
2

1

62

63

1

101

64

Post

69

73

9
3

8
7

9
2

7

6

58

37

1
1

16

1
5

2
9

28

55

53

42

4
3

23

26

W
ILLO

W
 RO

A
D

34

Allotment Gardens

2 1

1
9
3

1
7
8

1
8
3

20.0m

1
7
5

1
6
9

20.1m

1
4
7

1
5
7

1
3
7

1
3
8

1
2
7

El

Sub Sta

1
2
6

21.5m

1
1
4

20.8m

Playing Field

1

PARTRIDGE AVENUE

13 25
1
6
2

45

10

37

19.6m 4
9

39

55

5
7

20 5
3

59

19

21

22

Foot Bridge

6

9

3

1

2

85

1
6

14

87

1
2

2

6

91

1
5
0 3

5

2
5

2
2

1
3

1
2

2

S
is

k
in

32

10

W
a
lk

20.0m

3

56

61

59

1

47 42

57

37

1

21.2m

40

40a

2

S
W

A
L
LO

W
 R

O
A
D

39

30

9

22.1m

1

2

17

1
1
2

7
5

73

LB

24.4m

58

62

66

1
0
0

6
3

Sub Sta

El

1
6

1

2
26.6m

68

9

7

EAGLE CLOSE

4
9

8
8TCB

26

S
W

IF
T C

L
O

S
E

64

R
E

D
W

IN
G

 C
L

O
S

E

ROAD

THACKERAY

THACKERAYROAD

1
1

8

2

O
R

IO
L

E
 W

A
Y

M 20

T
H

A
C

K
E

R
A

Y
 R

O
A

D

3
6

5
9

R
E

D
W

IN
G

C
L
O

S
E

1
0

F
B

569750.000000

569750.000000

570000.000000

570000.000000

1
5

9
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
5

9
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
5

9
2

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
5

9
2

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

µ
Scale 1:2500

Land subject to Village Green application at
Lunsford Lane at Larkfield

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing the application site

Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



APPENDIX C: 
Photographs showing application site 

Above: View from Lunsford Lane looking SOUTH-EAST 

Below: Entrance to playing field from Lunsford Lane end 

Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Application to register land at Broadstairs Cricket Ground and 
surrounding woodland as a new Town or Village Green 

A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s 
Regulation Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 8th February 2011. 

Recommendation: I recommend that a non-statutory Public Inquiry be held into 
the case to clarify the issues. 

Local Members:  Mr. R. Bayford and Mr. B. Hayton   Unrestricted item 

Introduction

1. The County Council has received an application to register land at Broadstairs 
Cricket Ground (and surrounding woodland) at Broadstairs as a new Town or 
Village Green from local resident Mr. T. Herron (“the Applicant”). The application 
was allocated reference number VGA597 on receipt. Although the application was 
originally received on 20th August 2007, the supporting evidence was not received 
until February 2010 and formal work did not commence on the application until that 
time. A plan of the site is shown at Appendix A to this report and a copy of the 
application form is attached at Appendix B.

Procedure

2. The application has been made under section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 and 
Regulation 3 of the Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens) (Interim 
Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007. These Regulations have, since 1st

October 2008, been superseded by the Commons Registration (England) 
Regulations 2008 which apply in relation to seven ‘pilot implementation areas’ only 
in England (of which Kent is one). The legal tests and process for determining 
applications remain substantially the same. 

3. Section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 enables any person to apply to a 
Commons Registration Authority to register land as a Town or Village Green where 
it can be shown that: 

‘a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports 
and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years;

4. In addition to the above, the application must meet one of the following tests: 
• Use of the land has continued ‘as of right’ until at least the date of 
application (section 15(2) of the Act); or 
• Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended no more than two years prior to the 
date of application, e.g. by way of the erection of fencing or a notice (section 
15(3) of the Act); or 
• Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended before 6th April 2007 and the application 
has been made within five years of the date the use ‘as of right’ ended (section 
15(4) of the Act). 

Agenda Item 5

Page 45



5. As a standard procedure set out in the Regulations, the Applicant must notify the 
landowner of the application and the County Council must notify every local 
authority. The County Council must also publicise the application in a newspaper 
circulating in the local area and place a copy of the notice on the County Council’s 
website. In addition, as a matter of best practice rather than legal requirement, the 
County Council also places copies of the notice on site to provide local people with 
the opportunity to comment on the application. The publicity must state a period of 
at least six weeks during which objections and representations can be made. 

The application site 

6. The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) is situated at Park 
Avenue, on the boundary between the towns of Broadstairs and Ramsgate. It is an 
irregular shape, which is best described by reference to the plan at Appendix A,
and consists of a cricket ground (including a large cricket pavilion) and surrounding 
woodlands which total approximately 3.6 hectares (9 acres) in size. 

7. When the application was originally submitted, the application site was unfenced, 
except where its outer boundaries abutted neighbouring properties. However, since 
the application has been made, the two southern limbs of the application site (i.e. 
the south-eastern section opposite Binnie Close and the south-western section 
south of the private driveway leading to the properties known as the Cricketers) 
have been cleared and fenced off using post and wire fencing to delineate land 
ownership boundaries. 

8. Nonetheless, access to the unfenced parts of the application site is easily gained 
via the footways of Park Avenue, Grange Way and Park Gate. The new fencing has 
also been penetrated in places to create unofficial access. The application site is 
crossed by a Public Footpath (TB48) which runs along its south-eastern fringe. 

The case 

9. The application has been made on the grounds that the application site has 
become a Town or Village Green by virtue of the actual use of the land by the local 
inhabitants for a range of recreational activities ‘as of right’ for more than 20 years. 

10. Despite requests being sent to the applicant, no actual evidence of use (other than 
the applicant’s statement in support of the application) was supplied until February 
2010 when a total of 31 user evidence questionnaires were received from local 
residents. A summary of this evidence is attached at Appendix C.

Consultations

11. Consultations have been carried out as required. The Broadstairs and St. Peter’s 
Town Council and the Broadstairs Society both wrote to express their support for 
the application. 

12. Letters of support were also received from 68 local residents (both current and 
former) setting out their knowledge and use of the application site. 

13. An objection was received from local resident Mr. P. Robinson. Mr. Robinson 
disputes the claim that the application site has been used by a significant number of

Page 46



local residents ‘as of right’ for lawful sports and pastimes. He has, however, 
observed use of the site for dog walking and has watched cricket matches taking 
place. Mr. Robinson also expresses concerns about the dumping of garden refuse 
and litter on the land. 

Landowners 

14. The situation with regard to the ownership of the application site is complex in that 
there are seven separate landowners and one leaseholder. The ownership of the 
application site is shown on the plan at Appendix D.

15. Out of the seven landowners, three have objected (“the Objectors”) and one has 
made a representation. A representation has also been received from the 
leaseholder.

Thanet District Council

16. The District Council owns a section of the application site which largely comprises 
the cricket field and pavilion. This area of land is registered with the Land Registry 
under title number K838998. The District Council’s Asset Manager, Mr. J. Thomson, 
has written to confirm that the Council has no evidence to offer either in support of 
or in opposition to the application. 

Broadstairs Cricket Club

17. The part of the application site that is owned by Thanet District Council is let on a 
100-year lease to the Broadstairs Cricket Club. 

18. The Cricket Club has made a representation on the basis that it has concerns 
regarding the future use of the land and the potential restrictions imposed were it to 
be registered as a Town Green. The Club believes that were the land to be granted 
Town Green status, the local community would have a right to use the cricket 
ground whenever they want and for whatever purposes. The Cricket Club has 
played on the land for nearly 70 years and has successful junior and senior teams 
which play cricket there on a regular basis at weekends and on some week days. If 
the granting of Town Green status were to in any way interfere with the Cricket 
Club’s use of the land, this could ultimately lead to the demise of the Club. 

Mr. and Mrs. Kenyon

19. Mr. and Mrs. Kenyon are the owners of a strip of land forming a private access road 
known as ‘The Cricketers’. This area of land is registered with the Land Registry 
under title number K915349. 

20. The roadway was made up approximately three years ago (2007) with a tarmac 
surface and speed bumps at the considerable expense of the owners of properties 
to which the roadway leads. Mr. and Mrs. Kenyon have made a representation on 
the basis that any use of this land has not been ‘as of right’, because use has been 
challenged by the landowners and a sign has been in place since 2007 stating that 
it is a private road. 

Page 47



Mr. and Mrs. Brazil

21. An objection to the application has been received from Barnes Marsland Solicitors 
on behalf of Mr. and Mrs. Brazil who own a piece of land on the western edge of the 
application site. This area of land is registered with the Land Registry under title 
number K401090. Mr. and Mrs. Brazil completed the purchase of this land in 2002, 
but have had an interest in it for approximately 12 years. 

22. The objection is made on the following grounds: 

 There is evidence that this part of the application site was originally fenced with 
a chestnut fence fronting Park Avenue and the cricket field, and a chain link 
fence on the southern boundary separating it from the land owned by Probeport 
Ltd. Although the fencing has deteriorated, it is still visible on the site. 

 On 24th March 2010, a new fence was erected around the perimeter of Mr. and 
Mrs. Brazil’s land which had the effect of preventing access to it. 

 Parts of the land are physically distinct and have different characteristics, but the 
evidence questionnaires submitted in support of the application do not 
differentiate between the uses of these different areas. The evidence does not 
demonstrate 20 years’ use of the whole of the land and the questionnaires fail to 
identify which parts of the woodland have been used. 

 The land is far from accessible and consists of dense scrubland; it is not suitable 
for walking or recreational pursuits. 

Probeport Ltd

23. An objection to the application has also been received from Clark Holt Solicitors on 
behalf of Probeport Ltd which owns a piece of land on the south-western limb of the 
application site. This area of land is registered with the Land Registry under title 
number K962796. Probeport Ltd purchased the land from the Greatex Investment 
Company Ltd. in 2009. 

24. The objection is made on the following grounds: 

 The land was cleared in late 2009, but prior to that it was highly impenetrable 
and unsuitable for recreational use. 

 On 12th January 2010, post and wire fencing was erected along with signs 
stating that the land was private property. 

 The evidence questionnaires do not differentiate between different parts of the 
application site and it is difficult to establish with any certainty that any of the 
activities claimed to have taken place actually did take place on this part of the 
application site. 

Greatex Investment Company Ltd

25. Clark Holt Solicitors also act on behalf of the Greatex Investment Company Ltd. 
which owns the south-eastern limb of the application site. This area of land is 
registered with the Land Registry under title number K61934. The Greatex 
Investment Company Ltd. has owned the land in excess of 50 years. It formerly 
owned a much larger area of land on the southern part of the application site, but 
part of this land was developed for housing (now Parkwood Close) in the 1970s and 
1980s.

Page 48



26.An objection from the Greatex Investment Company Ltd. (via its solicitor) has been 
received. The objection is made on the basis that the Company is not aware of any 
use of the land for lawful sports and pastimes. It is, however, used as a short cut to 
reach the cricket ground or adjacent streets, or to reach the Brown Jug Public 
House and Ramsgate Road from Park Avenue. Any use of the land has therefore 
been of a Public Rights of Way type user and does not amount to general use for 
lawful sports and pastimes. 

Kent County Council

27. Kent County Council owns a strip of land abutting Grange Way on the eastern part 
of the application site. This area of land is registered with the Land Registry under 
title number K684424. Notice has been served on the County Council as required 
but no response has been received. 

DS Property Developments

28. A triangle of land on the north-eastern part of the application site is registered with 
the Land Registry under title number K386365. The registered owner is stated to be 
Clayform Developments Ltd, but a search of the Companies House database has 
revealed that this company is now trading as DS Property Developments. Notice 
has been served on this company as required but no response has been received. 

Legal tests

29. In dealing with an application to register a new Town or Village Green the County 
Council must consider the following criteria: 
(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'? 
(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and 

pastimes? 
(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular 

locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality? 
(d) Whether use has taken place over period of twenty years or more? 
(e) Whether use of the land ‘as of right’ by the inhabitants has continued up until the 

date of application or meets one of the criteria set out in sections 15(3) or (4)? 

I shall now take each of these points and elaborate on them individually: 

(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'?

30. The definition of the phrase ‘as of right’ has been considered by the House of 
Lords. Following the judgement in the Sunningwell1 case, it is considered that if a 
person uses the land for a required period of time without force, secrecy or 
permission (“nec vi, nec clam, nec precario”), and the landowner does not stop him 
or advertise the fact that he has no right to be there, then rights are acquired. 

31. In this case, there is no suggestion that the informal recreational use of the 
application site has been with permission or with any secrecy. However, there is 
some debate as to the existence of fencing and notices on parts of the application  

1
 R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385 

Page 49



site which have the potential to render any use of it with force, and thus not ’as of
right’.

Fencing

32. It is the applicant’s case, supported by the user evidence, that there has been no 
physical hindrance to the actual use of the whole of the application site throughout 
the twenty year period preceding the date of the application. The Objectors refer to 
the erection of post and rail fencing around parts of the application site, 
accompanied by ‘private land’ notices, in early 2010. There is some disagreement 
as to the exact date that the fencing was erected2, but, in any event the fencing was 
erected after the application was made and thus would be outside the relevant 
twenty-year period3.

33. In addition to the recent erection of fencing on part of the application site, Mr. and 
Mrs. Brazil refer to the remains of fencing on the part of the application site which is 
within their ownership. They say that there is evidence (in the way of remains of old 
fencing) to indicate that their plot was originally fenced with chestnut fencing 
fronting Park Avenue and the cricket field, and a chain link fence running adjacent 
to the boundary with the land owned by Probeport Ltd. 

34. The applicant, who has known the site since 1982, states that he is unaware of any 
fence, boundary or other impediment to use, either along the frontage of Park 
Avenue or separating the land internally. He adds that enquiries of long-term 
residents have not drawn any recollection of the existence of fences. 

35. The situation with regard to fencing is therefore far from clear. It is based almost 
exclusively on the recollections of those who have visited the site (both landowners 
and recreational users) and requires further investigation before a proper 
conclusion can be reached. 

Notices

36. Any use of the application site which has involved breaking down barriers to gain 
entry is a clear example of use that is with force and not ‘as of right’. However, the 
definition of force in the context of Town or Village Green registration is not 
restricted to physical force4. So, if a landowner erects a notice prohibiting use of the 
land and that notice is ignored by the users, then such use becomes contentious 
and is not ‘as of right’. 

37. A representation has been received from the owners of the private road known as 
‘The Cricketers’, who say that a notice has been in place stating ‘private road’ since 
2007. As such, their view is that the use of the roadway has not been ‘as of right’. 

2 In relation to the parts of the application site owned by Probeport Ltd and the Greatex Investment 
Company (see Appendix D). The Objectors assert that the fencing around the land owned by Probeport 
Ltd and the Greatex Investment Company was erected in January 2010, whereas the applicant states 
that the fencing was not erected until after 8

th
 March 2010 (the date upon which Notice of the application 

was served on the affected landowners). 
3
 See paragraphs 63 to 65 for conclusions regarding the relevant twenty-year period. 

4
R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council (No 2) [2010] 2 AC 70 (see particularly Lord 

Rodger at paragraph 88) 

Page 50



38.When looking at the effect of notices erected on the application site, it is important 
to consider the message conveyed to the users of the land: indeed, “the aim is to let 
the reasonable user know that the owner objects to and contests his user”5. It is 
arguable in this instance that a ‘private road’ notice could be interpreted by the 
users as referring only to the passage of vehicular traffic and not to the general use 
of the land for recreational purposes. It is therefore debatable as to whether the 
‘private road’ notices had the effect of contesting recreational user. 

(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and 
pastimes?

39. Lawful sports and pastimes can be commonplace activities including dog walking, 
children playing, picnicking and kite-flying. It is not necessary to demonstrate that 
both sporting activities and pastimes have taken place since the phrase ‘lawful 
sports and pastimes’ has been interpreted by the Courts as being a single 
composite group rather than two separate classes of activities6.

40. Legal principle does not require that rights of this nature be limited to certain 
ancient pastimes (such as maypole dancing) or for organised sports or communal 
activities to have taken place. The Courts have held that ‘dog walking and playing 
with children [are], in modern life, the kind of informal recreation which may be the 
main function of a village green’7.

41. In this case, the evidence demonstrates that the land has been used for a wide 
range of recreational activities, including walking (with or without dogs), watching 
cricket matches and playing with children. The summary of evidence of use by local 
residents at Appendix C shows the full range of activities claimed to have taken 
place.

Distinct areas and physical inaccessibility 

42. The Objectors do not seek to argue that no part of the application site has been 
used for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes. Rather, their position is that 
the application site is divided into several physically distinct areas which require 
separate analysis. The user evidence questionnaires do not distinguish between 
different areas of the application site, and some activities referred to in the user 
evidence (e.g. kite flying and watching cricket), of necessity, can only have taken 
place on the cricket field itself rather than in the neighbouring woodland. Where 
reference is made to recreational use of the woodland, the questionnaires do not 
specifically identify which pieces of woodland have been used. As such, it is the 
Objectors contention that the user evidence is not sufficient to demonstrate 
recreational use of the whole of the application site. 

43. The Objectors also argue that parts of the application site were not capable of being 
used by virtue of their physical inaccessibility. These areas (which have now been 
cleared) are described as having been ‘barely penetrable scrubland’ covered with

5
R (Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust) v Oxfordshire County 

Council [2010] EWHC 530 (Admin) at paragraph 22 per Waksman J 
6

R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385 
7

R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed [1995] 70 P&CR 487 at 508 and approved by Lord Hoffman 
in R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 
385

Page 51



bushes, shrubs, trees and other vegetation which would have made these areas 
unsuitable for walking or playing. Access to these areas would, in the Objectors 
view, have been very difficult. 

44. The applicant, on the other hand, argues that it is wrong to attempt to differentiate 
between the different areas of ownership of the application site. As far as the users 
were concerned, there was no distinction between the different areas of ownership 
or indeed the recreational use to which they was put by local residents. Those using 
the application site undertook their activities on the site as a whole, without any 
thought as to the ownership boundaries, and as such the issues of land ownership 
are irrelevant in determining whether, as a matter of fact, the land has been used in 
the requisite manner. 

45. The applicant also disputes the assertion that parts of the application site were 
inaccessible. He states that all parts of the woodland have provided opportunities 
for several generations of children to play, climb trees and build dens. Whilst some 
parts of the woodland were denser in terms of vegetation than others, these areas 
were penetrated by informal pathways through the trees, regularly used by both 
adults and children. 

46. As with the fencing issue above, it is very difficult to reconcile the very stark 
contrast between the recollections of the users and those of the landowners. This 
vast difference is not something which it appears possible to resolve on paper; 
rather, it is a question of evidence that requires more detailed scrutiny, preferably 
by way of the cross examination of witnesses in a structured public forum. 

Public Footpath TB48 

47. There is also a further question arising from the existence of a Public Footpath 
running along the south-eastern part the application site. Use of a defined route that 
constitutes a recorded Public Footpath is a Public Rights of Way type user which is 
in exercise of an existing right and cannot give rise to any new rights8.

48. The Greatex Investment Company argues that such use as has taken place of their 
land has only been for the purpose of passage along the Public Footpath. However, 
the applicant states that it would be wrong to assume that the presence of a Public 
Footpath indicates only linear usage of one part of the application site, since all 
parts of the site have been regularly used and this is evidenced by the number of 
informal pathways that lead through the area and connect to the main Public 
Footpath.

49. Once again, the degree of use of the Public Footpath is of material relevance to the 
wider question of whether recreational use has taken place over the whole of the 
application site, and requires more detailed investigation.

(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular 
locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality? 

50. The right to use a Town or Village Green is restricted to the inhabitants of a locality 
or of a neighbourhood within a locality and it is therefore important to be able to

8
R (Laing Homes) v Buckinghamshire County Council [2003] 3 EGLR 70

Page 52



define this area with a degree of accuracy so that the group of people to whom the 
recreational rights are attached can be identified. Identifying the relevant “locality” 
or “neighbourhood within a locality” can be problematic but it does not matter if the 
applicant fails to precisely defined the correct locality in his application; the burden 
is not on the applicant to establish the correct locality at the time of application, but 
rather on the Registration Authority to satisfy itself that there is a relevant locality (or 
neighbourhood) at the time of registration9.

“locality”

51. The definition of locality for the purposes of a village green application has been the 
subject of much debate in the courts and there is still no definite rule to be applied. 
In the Cheltenham Builders10 case, it was considered that ‘…at the very least, 
Parliament required the users of the land to be the inhabitants of somewhere that 
could sensibly be described as a locality… there has to be, in my judgement, a 
sufficiently cohesive entity which is capable of definition’. The judge later went on to 
suggest that this might mean that locality should normally constitute ‘some legally 
recognised administrative division of the county’.

52. At part 6 of the application form, the Applicant specifies the locality as ‘the area of 
housing surrounding the green but also for the wider area of Upton ward 
Broadstairs’. The Upton ward is shown on the plan at Appendix E.

53. The Objectors argue that the District Council electoral ward of Upton has not 
existed since 2002 (when it was largely subsumed into the new electoral ward of 
Viking) and, since it is not an administrative division currently known to the law, it 
cannot be a qualifying locality for the purposes of Town or Village Green 
registration.

54. The Courts have recently considered this issue in the Leeds11 case. In that case, 
the electoral ward relied upon had not existed since 1937. It was held that provided 
that the boundaries of the ward could be defined, the fact that it ceased to be an 
administrative unit in 1937 did not prevent it from being a locality for the purposes of 
Town or Village Green registration. 

55. The same principle can be applied in the current case. The fact that Upton has not 
existed as an electoral ward since 2002 does not, contrary to the assertion of the 
Objector, automatically preclude it from being a relevant locality. It would therefore 
appear that the former District Council ward of Upton would be capable of 
constituting a relevant locality in this case. 

56. In cases where the “locality” is so large that it is difficult to show that the application 
site has been used by a significant number of people from that locality (as often the 
case in urban areas), it will be necessary to consider whether there is a relevant 
“neighbourhood” within the wider locality. 

9
Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council [2006] 4 All ER 817 

10
 R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd.) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at page 90

11
Leeds Group plc v Leeds City Council [2010] EWHC 810 (Ch). Note that the High Court’s decision in 

this case was appealed but the specific issue of whether the electoral ward in question could be a 
qualifying locality was not considered by the Court of Appeal. See Leeds Group plc v Leeds City Council
[2010] EWCA Civ 1438 

Page 53



“neighbourhood within a locality”

57.On the subject of neighbourhood, the Courts have held that ‘it is common ground 
that a neighbourhood need not be a recognised administrative unit. A housing 
estate might well be described in ordinary language as a neighbourhood… The 
Registration Authority has to be satisfied that the area alleged to be a 
neighbourhood has a sufficient degree of cohesiveness; otherwise the word 
“neighbourhood” would be stripped of any real meaning’12.

58. Although it is accepted that, in all probability, only those living closest to a piece of 
land are likely to use it for recreational purposes, there is still a requirement for the 
purposes of Village Green registration to show that the land has been used by the 
residents of a defined area or, as suggested by LJ Pill in a case known as Steed13,
‘something more than a place or geographical area – rather a distinct and 
identifiable community such as might lay reasonable claim to a town or village 
green’.

59. The applicant contends that the relevant neighbourhood in this case is Park 
Avenue. The neighbourhood as defined by the applicant is shown on the plan at 
Appendix E. He explains that Park Avenue is a long residential cul-de-sac, 
including a number of separate cul-de-sacs that feed into Park Avenue, thereby 
creating a self-contained residential area. The whole neighbourhood is accessed by 
a junction at Ramsgate Road or a Public Footpath from West Dumpton Lane. It also 
has a very distinct character and appearance that is easily distinguishable from 
surrounding residential areas. In the applicant’s view, Park Avenue, as a 
neighbourhood, therefore has the sufficient degree of cohesiveness required for the 
purposes of Town or Village Green registration. 

“a significant number” 

60. The word “significant” in this context does not mean considerable or substantial: ‘a
neighbourhood may have a very limited population and a significant number of the 
inhabitants of such a neighbourhood might not be so great as to properly be 
described as a considerable or a substantial number… what matters is that the 
number of people using the land in question has to be sufficient to indicate that the 
land is in general use by the community for informal recreation rather than 
occasional use by individuals as trespassers’14. Thus, what is a ‘significant number’ 
will depend upon the local environment and will vary in each case depending upon 
the location of the application site. 

61. In this case, representations and evidence of use have been received from 67 
households in the Park Avenue neighbourhood as defined by the applicant which is 
a not insignificant amount. The frequency of use claimed by the witnesses is also 
high, with 22 of the 31 user evidence questionnaires referring to use of the 
application site on a weekly basis and half of those asserting use on a daily basis. 

62. In addition, nearly all of the user evidence questionnaires refer to having observed 
use of the application site on a daily basis. It is not clear how much of this has been

12
R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd.) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at page 92 

13
 R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed and another (1995)

14
R (Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd.) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 at paragraph 71 

Page 54



informal recreational use as opposed to more formal activities by the cricket club 
(which would be by virtue of a permission from the landowner). However, on 
balance, it would appear that the volume of use of the application site has been 
such that a reasonable landowner would have been aware of the recreational use 
of the land by local residents. 

(d) Whether use has taken place over a period of twenty years or more? 

63. In order to qualify for registration, it must be shown that the land in question has 
been used for a full period of twenty years. Where there has been no challenge to 
the use of the land and use ‘as of right’ is continuing, the twenty-year period is to be 
calculated retrospectively from the date that the application was made. 

64. In this case, there has been some debate as to when the application was duly 
made. An application is duly made when all of the necessary requirements in 
making the application (e.g. a requirement to provide a map at a specified scale) 
have been complied with. Although the application form itself is dated August 2007, 
user evidence in support of the application was not received until February 2010. 

65. The Objectors argue that the application was not treated as being duly made until 
the submission of the user evidence forms in 2010 and that the relevant twenty-
year period is therefore 1990 to 2010. The relevant Regulations15 say that an 
application is duly made when it is submitted on the relevant application form, 
signed by the applicant and accompanied by a map showing the application site, a 
statutory declaration and every document which the applicant has in his possession 
relating to the matter. There is no specific requirement for the applicant to supply 
evidence of use and indeed the user evidence questionnaires which were supplied 
by other local residents have never been in the applicant’s possession. 

66. The County Council therefore takes the view that the application was duly made in 
August 2007. Hence, the relevant twenty-year period (“the material period”) is 1987 
to 2007. 

67. In terms of the actual evidence of use, it matters not if only some (or even none) of 
the witnesses have used the application site for twenty years, provided that the 
evidence as a whole demonstrates that the land has been used by the local 
community for a full period of twenty years16.

68. In this case, as can be seen from the table at Appendix C, 22 of the 31 witnesses 
who supplied user evidence questionnaires in support of the application have used 
the application site for a full period of twenty years. In addition to the user evidence 
questionnaires, there is a significant volume of evidence contained in the letters of 
support, many from longstanding residents of the area, attesting to recreational use 
of the application site. 

69. Overall, the evidence suggests that the application site has been used for a full 
period of twenty years. However, the Objectors’ criticisms in relation to the vague 
nature of the user evidence (insofar as it does not specify which areas of the

15
 At the time that the application was made, the relevant Regulations were the Commons (Registration 

of Town or Village Greens) (Interim Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007. However, these have 
now been superseded in the pilot areas by the Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008.
16

Davis v Whitby [1974] 1 All ER 806 

Page 55



application site have been used) and the overgrown state of parts of the 
applications site would be relevant to the question of whether the application site as 
a whole has been used throughout the relevant period. These criticisms require 
further clarification and, in light of the recommendation, it is not necessary to 
conclude either way on this point. 

(e) Whether use of the land by the inhabitants is continuing up until the date of 
application or meets one of the criteria set out in sections 15(3) or (4)?

70. The Commons Act 2006 requires use of the land to have taken place ‘as of right’ up 
until the date of application or, if such use has ceased prior to the making of the 
application, to fulfil one of the alternative criterion set out in sections 15(3) and 
15(4) of the 2006 Act (as set out at paragraph 4 above). 

71. If, for the reasons set out above, the date of the application is accepted as being 
2007, then use of the application site, according to the user evidence, has 
continued up until that date (and indeed beyond). 

72. Even if it is considered that the application was not duly made until February 2010 
and that use ‘as of right’ ceased prior to the application (as is asserted by the 
Objectors), this is inconsequential since section 15(2) the Commons Act 2006 
provides a two-year period of grace during which applications can be made once 
use the application site has ceased to be ‘as of right’. 

Conclusion

73. As has been noted above, there have been various disputes regarding the nature 
and factual basis of the evidence. In summary, the applicant’s case is that the 
whole of the application site has been used by the local residents for the purposes 
of lawful sports and pastimes for a full period of twenty years. The Objector’s case 
is that parts of the application site would have been inaccessible due to 
impenetrable vegetation and as such these areas were not capable of being used 
for recreation pursuits. The evidence on both sides relies almost entirely upon the 
recollections of those involved and there is little, if any, documentary evidence to 
support the case for either side. 

74. Although the relevant Regulations17 provide a framework for the initial stages of 
processing the application (e.g. advertising the application, dealing with objections 
etc), they provide little guidance with regard to the procedure that a Commons 
Registration Authority should follow in considering and determining the application. 
In recent times it has become relatively commonplace, in cases which are 
particularly emotive or where the application turns on disputed issues of fact, for 
Registration Authorities to conduct a non-statutory Public Inquiry18. This involves 
appointing an independent Inspector to hear the relevant evidence and report 
his/her findings back to the Registration Authority. 

17
 Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008 

18
 The Public Inquiry is referred to as being ‘non-statutory’ because the Commons Act 2006 does not 

expressly confer any powers on the Commons Registration Authority to hold a Public Inquiry. However, 
Local Authorities do have a general power to do any thing to facilitate the discharge of any of their 
functions and this is contained in section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Page 56



75.Such an approach has received positive approval by the Courts, most notably in the 
Whitmey19 case in which Waller LJ said this: ‘the registration authority has to 
consider both the interests of the landowner and the possible interest of the local 
inhabitants. That means that there should not be any presumption in favour of 
registration or any presumption against registration. It will mean that, in any case 
where there is a serious dispute, a registration authority will almost invariably need 
to appoint an independent expert to hold a public inquiry, and find the requisite 
facts, in order to obtain the proper advice before registration’.

76. A decision to hold a Public Inquiry is not one which the County Council should take 
lightly; such a decision imposes significant burdens on all parties involved in terms 
of the preparation for and attendance at the Inquiry. Officers will, in the first 
instance, always seek to resolve an application without the need to resort to a 
Public Inquiry if at all possible. In this case, further information has been sought 
from the parties in an attempt to reconcile differences in the factual evidence 
provided20. However, there are occasions, of which this appears to be one, where 
there is a serious conflict in the evidence which cannot be resolved on paper and 
the County Council has little option other than to refer the matter to a Public Inquiry 
for the matters to be clarified before a final decision is made. 

77. It is important to remember, as was famously quoted by the Judge in another High 
Court case21, that ‘it is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land, whether in 
public or private ownership, registered as a town green... [the relevant legal tests] 
must be ‘properly and strictly proved’. This means that it is of paramount 
importance for a Registration Authority to ensure that, before taking a decision, it 
has all of the relevant facts available upon which to base a sound decision. It 
should be recalled that the only means of appeal against the Registration 
Authority’s decision is by way of a Judicial Review in the High Court.

78. The volume of unanswered questions relating to the evidence in this case means 
that it appears that a Public Inquiry would be the most appropriate way forward. 

Recommendations

79. I recommend that a non-statutory Public Inquiry be held into the case to clarify the 
issues.

Accountable Officer:
Dr. Linda Davies – Tel: 01622 221500 or Email: linda.davies@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Miss. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 01622 221511 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Countryside Access Service, 
Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone. Please contact the case officer for further 
details.

19
 R (Whitmey) v Commons Commissioners [2004] EWCA Civ 951 at paragraph 66 

20
 In exercise of the County Council’s powers to invite further written representations contained in 

Regulation 28 of the Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008 
21

 R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed [1997] 1EGLR 131 at 134

Page 57



Background documents 

APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B – Copy of application form 
APPENDIX C – Summary of user evidence 
APPENDIX D – Plan showing ownership of the application site 
APPENDIX E – Plan showing the relevant locality, neighbourhood and spread of users 

Page 58



C
P

Ward Bdy

FF

FW

FW

FF

Ward Bdy

CF

D
e

f

Def

C
R

6

3
8
a

P
a

th

4
0

3
8

Posts

63

6
1

4
4

5
2

19
15

21

26

12

9

7

PARK AVENUE

S
A

N
C

T
U

A
R

Y
 C

L
O

S
E

1
6
0

2

3
1

1
5

1
2

1
4

1

5

1

10

Sub Sta

5

El

P
rio

ry
 C

lo
s

e

4

2
3

PARK CHASE

1

1

3

11

4

1
2

1
4

PARK GATE

Cricketers

The

G
R

A
N

G
E

34

W
A

Y

8

7

29

24

19

1
4

1
2

3
7

P
R

E
S

T
E

D
G

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

4
9

6
4

6
0

5
6

2
5

1

1
3

6
8

78

69a

93

69 1
3

4

70

2

Parade
The

El Sub Sta

O
a
k

w
o

o
d

66

2

5

61a

6
3
a

67a

6
5
a

63

65

67

60

WEST DUMPTON LANE

43.0m

V
il

la
s

4347

45a

5

62

54

LB

TCB

23

14

CLOSE

P
A

R
K

W
O

O
D

4

11

1

18

1
2
0

1
1
8

1
2
4

109

92

103

1

88

101

7

9

7a

PARK AVENUE

104

El Sub Sta

6

BINNIE CLOSE

1

2
0
0

2
0
2

2
0
0
a

1a

Brown Jug

20
8

1

41.3m

Manktelow Court

DUMPTON

2
1
4

204

2
1
0

205

2
1
3

1 to 38

TCB

PO

(PH)

LB

23

LANE

27

38

WEST
DUMPTON

41.7m

31

14

40.8m

22

30

4

221

13

3

Playing Field

24

The Pavilion

1

215

WEST DUMPTON LANE

1

PARKWOODCLOSE

2

P
A

R
K

 A
V

E
N

U
E

Playing Field

61

H
E

A
T

H
W

O
O

D
 D

R
IV

E

45

43a
37

Priory Close

Und

D
e

f

F
W

FW

Dumpton

House

1 to 21

House
Heathwood

3
2

The Cricketers

P
u

b
li

c
 F

o
o

tp
a

th
 T

B
4

8

638500.000000

638500.000000

1
6

6
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

6
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

6
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

6
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

7
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

7
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

µ
Scale 1:2500

Land subject to Village Green application 
at Broadstairs Cricket Ground

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing application site

Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Household 
name

Period
of use 

Frequency Activities Other comments 

ALI 1973 – 
present 

Almost daily Walking, cricket, kite flying, 
bike riding, playing with 
remote control cars 

BENEDICT 1989 – 
present 

Not stated Jogging, football, kite flying Children used for sports and general 
playing in woodland. Use never 
challenged until recently by men 
clearing vegetation 

BLACKWELL 1990 – 
present 

Weekly Golf, cricket matches, dog 
walking 

BRIERY 1984 – 
present 

Weekly Walking, nature 
observation

CLANCY 2007 – 
present 

Mostly summer 
months

Flying model aircraft, 
picnics, walking, playing 
games, watching sports 

DAVIES 1984 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, walking, 
playing with children 

“the wooded areas adjacent to the 
cricket ground have been defacto 
common land as long as I can 
remember... the owners of the 
wooded land have taken no interest 
in their property at all in the time I 
have been here” 

DICKERSON 1988 – 
present 

Daily Watching sports, sitting on 
seats, ball games, kite 
flying, dog walking, running 
and other exercises 

Use was interrupted when 
developers churned up the surface 
to fir drainage for The Cricketers 

DIFFLEY 1983 – 
present 

Several times 
per week 

Dog walking, playing with 
children, blackberry and 
elderberry picking, jogging, 
nature observation 

DUFF 1986 – 
present 

Monthly Dog walking, enjoying the 
woodland 

HALLAM 1995 – 
present 

Weekly Walking  

HERRON 1983 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, playing ball 
games, playing hide and 
seek in woods, kite flying, 
snowball fights 

“the circular nature of the road and 
the fact it is a cul-de-sac create a 
specific locality/neighbourhood” 

HISLOP 1983 – 
present 

Monthly Walking, running 

HOOPER 1961 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, children’s 
games, football, cycling 

JONES 1983 – 
present 

Daily until 1997, 
now regularly 

Dog walking, family 
games, kite flying 

“The land has been available for 
about 100 years and I believe it is 
the only area of natural woodland 
freely open to the public” 

LEWIS 1985 – 
present 

Occasionally Playing with children both 
on field and in woods, 
watching cricket, walking 
with friends 

McCARTHY 1973 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking 

McKELLAR 2000 – 
present 

not stated Walking, playing with 
children, watching cricket 

MEASDAY 1953 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, family 
recreation 

Employed by former landowner as a 
groundsman: “the land has always 
been used by local people for 
recreation” 

PALMER 1974 – 
present 

Weekly Games, kite flying, playing 
with children, sporting 

APPENDIX C: 
Summary of user evidence submitted 

in support of the application 

Page 72



events with friends 

PALMER 1974 – 
present 

Daily Ball games, picnics, dog 
walking, socialising, kite 
flying

PARKIN 1987 – 
present 

Weekly Walking, watching cricket, 
ball games 

PARNELL 1991 – 
present 

Daily Watching sports, kite 
flying, ball games, 
sunbathing, picnics, 
walking, wildlife 
observation

PETT 1987 – 
present 

Weekly Watching cricket, walking 
dog around cricket pitch 
and through woodlands 

PRICE 1975 – 
present 

Daily Playing cricket, dog 
walking, bird watching 

RANDOLPH 1982 – 
present 

Daily/weekly Ball games, walking, 
birdwatching in the 
woodland, watching cricket 
matches

TAYLOR 2001 – 
present 

Weekly Dog walking  

THRONSDEN 1986 – 
present 

Weekly Walking, watching cricket 

UPTON 1965 – 
present 

Regularly, 
previously daily 

Walking, dog walking, 
children’s games, bike 
riding, watching cricket 

“my children spent every evening 
and weekend playing in the wooded 
area, they had swings and tree 
houses...” 

WELLER 1986 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, walking 
through woods, children’s 
play, watching cricket, 
observing wildlife 

WILLIAMS 1990 – 
present 

Occasionally Playing with children  

WILSON 1998 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, watching 
cricket, playing with 
children

Notes:

 Shaded entries indicate over twenty years’ use by that household 

 The two references to ‘Palmer’ are separate households 

 User evidence questionnaires were completer in 2010 so the references to ‘present’ under period of 
use indicate that use took place until at least 2010 and may or may not be continuing. 

 The evidence of use summarised above does not include any evidence which is contained within the 
68 letters of support received. 

Page 73



C
P

C
P

Ward Bdy

FF

FW

FW

FF

Ward Bdy

CF

D
e

f

Def

C
R

C
R

BS

6

3
8
a

P
a

th

4
0

3
8

Posts

6
1

4
4

5
2

48

4
6

MARLBOROUGH

1

CLOSE

12

68

58

19
15

21

26

12

9

7

PARK AVENUE

S
A

N
C

T
U

A
R

Y
 C

L
O

S
E

80 90

1
6
0

1
5
2

2

3
1

1
5

1
2

1
4

1

5

1

10

Sub Sta

5

El

P
rio

ry
 C

lo
s

e

LB

1
6
2

4

2
3

PARK CHASE

1

1

3

11

4

1
2

1
4

PARK GATE

Cricketers

The

G
R

A
N

G
E

34

W
A

Y

8

7

1
7
4

29

24

19

1
4

1
2

1
9
0

1
8
6

3
7

4
9

6
4

6
0

5
6

2
5

1

1
3

6
8

78

69a

93

69 1
3

4 2

Parade
The

1
3

O
a
k

w
o

o
d

66

2

8

5

61a

6
3
a

67a

6
5
a

63

65

67

60

WEST DUMPTON LANE

43.0m

V
il

la
s

1

7

42

4347

45a

5

2

62

54

LB

TCB

1
91
7

1
5

1
1

2
32
1

1
2

52

43.0m

23

14

CLOSE

P
A

R
K

W
O

O
D

4

11

1

18

1
2
0

1
1
8

1
2
4

109

92

103

1

88

101

7

9

7a

PARK AVENUE

104

El Sub Sta

6

BINNIE CLOSE

1

2
0
0

2
0
2

2
0
0
a

Garage

1a

Brown Jug

20
8

1

41.3m

Manktelow Court

DUMPTON

2
1
4

204

2
1
0

205

2
1
3

1 to 38

TCB

PO

(PH)

LB

23

LANE

27

38

WEST
DUMPTON

41.7m

40

31

38a

14

40.8m

22

25

SANDWOOD ROAD

30

3
8

113

26

ARGYLL DRIVE

4

14

221

1

13

Dumpton Farm House

R
A
M

S
G

A
TE

 R
O

A
D

3
8

Grinan Court

115

2

114
116

216

El
Sub
Sta

3

Playing Field

24

The Pavilion

1

215

WEST DUMPTON LANE

1

PARKWOODCLOSE

2

P
A

R
K

 A
V

E
N

U
E

Playing Field

61

H
E

A
T

H
W

O
O

D
 D

R
IV

E

45

43a
37

Priory Close

Und

D
e

f

F
W

FW

Dumpton

House

1 to 21

House
Heathwood

3
2

The Cricketers

land owned by Clayform 
Developments Ltd 

(now DS PROPERTY 
DEVELOPMENTS) 
under title number 

K386365

land owned by 
KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 

under title number K684424

land owned by 
GREATEX INVESTMENT 

COMPANY under title 
number K61934

land owned by PROBEPORT LTD 
under title number K962796

land owned by 
MR AND MRS BRAZIL 

under title number 
K401090

land owned by 
MR AND MRS KENYON 

under title number 
K915349

land owned by THANET DISTRICT COUNCIL 
under title number K838998 and leased to 

BROADSTAIRS CRICKET CLUB

638500.000000

638500.000000

638750.000000

638750.000000

1
6

6
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

6
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

6
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

6
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

7
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

7
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

µ
Scale 1:2500

APPENDIX D:
Plan showing land ownership

Please note: this plan has been produced for illustrative purposes only. 
It is not intended to be a definitive record of the boundaries of land ownership. 
Please refer to the official Register of Title for further details.

Page 74



638000.000000

638000.000000

639000.000000

639000.000000

1
6

7
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

7
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

8
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
6

8
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

®
Scale 1:10,000

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of  the 
Controller of  Her Majesty's Stationery Office (c) Crown Copyright
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Licence number 100019238 [2011]

APPENDIX E:
Plan showing relevant locality, neigh-
bourhood and spread of users

application site

KEY TO SYMBOLS:

Boundary of the former 
Upton ward (the "locality")

Boundary of alleged 
"neighbourhood" 
(Park Avenue)

Recreational user

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



Application to register land adjacent to Barnes Car Park at 
Westbrook, near Margate as a new Town Green 

A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s  
Regulation Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 8th February 2011. 

Recommendation: I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant 
that the application to register the land adjacent to Barnes Car Park at 
Westbrook has been accepted, and that the land subject to the application be 
formally registered as a Town Green. 

Local Member:  Mr. R. Burgess     Unrestricted item 

Introduction

1. The County Council has received an application to register land adjacent to 
Barnes Car Park at Westbrook as a new Town Green from local resident Mr. A. 
Sykes (“the Applicant”). The application, dated 2nd March 2009, was allocated the 
application number VGA611. A plan of the site is shown at Appendix A to this 
report and a copy of the application form is attached at Appendix B.

Procedure

2. The application has been made under section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 and 
the Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008. 

3. Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 enables any person to apply to a Commons 
Registration Authority to register land as a Village Green where it can be shown 
that:

‘a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years;

4. In addition to the above, the application must meet one of the following tests: 
• Use of the land has continued ‘as of right’ until at least the date of 
application (section 15(2) of the Act); or 
• Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended no more than two years prior to the 
date of application, e.g. by way of the erection of fencing or a notice (section 
15(3) of the Act); or 
• Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended before 6th April 2007 and the 
application has been made within five years of the date the use ‘as of right’ 
ended (section 15(4) of the Act). 

5. As a standard procedure set out in the regulations, the Applicant must notify the 
landowner of the application and the County Council must notify every local 
authority. The County Council must also publicise the application in a newspaper 
circulating in the local area and place a copy of the notice on the County Council’s 
website. In addition, as a matter of best practice rather than legal requirement, the  

Agenda Item 6

Page 77



County Council also places copies of the notice on site to provide local people 
with the opportunity to comment on the application. The publicity must state a 
period of at least six weeks during which objections and representations can be 
made.

The application site 

6. The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) consists of an 
area of grassed open space of approximately one hectare (2.5 acres) in size 
situated at the base of the cliffs adjacent to the Westbrook Promenade. The site is 
bounded on its northern and western edges by the Westbrook Promenade, on its 
eastern edge by the Barnes Car Park and along its southern boundary by the cliff 
face. Access to the site is via the unfenced boundaries along the Westbrook 
Promenade and from Barnes Car Park. 

7. The application site is shown in more detail on the plan at Appendix A.

The case 

8. The application has been made on the grounds that the application site has 
become a Town or Village Green by virtue of the actual use of the land by the 
local inhabitants for a range of recreational activities ‘as of right’ for more than 20 
years.

9. Included in the application were 115 user evidence questionnaires from local 
residents demonstrating use of the application site for a range of recreational 
activities for a period dating back to the 1940s. A summary of the evidence in 
support of the application is attached at Appendix C.

Consultations

10. Consultations have been carried out as required and the following comments 
have been received. 

11. Nine letters were received from local residents, although in the main these were 
concerned with the impact of future development proposals for the site rather than 
providing any specific evidence in relation to the Village Green application. 

Landowner 

12. The application site is owned by Thanet District Council and registered with the 
HM Land Registry under title number K902000. An objection to the application 
has been received from Mr. J. Thomson who is the Asset Manager at Thanet 
District Council. 

13. The District Council states that the application to register the land a as a Town or 
Village Green has come about because the application site was put on the 
Council’s 2008/2009 Asset Disposal list. Although the Council’s Cabinet has 
approved the site for disposal, it is not, at this stage, the Council’s intention to 
dispose of the freehold of the site. 

Page 78



14.The District Council is aware of the leisure use of the application site and does 
not seek to restrict public access or lawful use of the site. However, the Council 
claims that the site is not capable of registration as a new Town or Village Green 
because it is held by the Council specifically for the purposes of public recreation 
under powers contained in the Public Health Act 1875. 

Legal tests

15. In dealing with an application to register a new Town or Village Green the County 
Council must consider the following criteria: 
(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'? 
(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and 

pastimes? 
(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular 

locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality? 
(d) Whether use of the land ‘as of right’ by the inhabitants has continued up 

until the date of application or meets one of the criteria set out in sections
15(3) or (4)? 

(e) Whether use has taken place over period of twenty years or more? 

I shall now take each of these points and elaborate on them individually: 

(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'?

16. The definition of the phrase ‘as of right’ has been considered by the House of 
Lords. Following the judgement in the Sunningwell1 case, it is considered that if a 
person uses the land for a required period of time without force, secrecy or 
permission (“nec vi, nec clam, nec precario”), and the landowner does not stop 
him or advertise the fact that he has no right to be there, then rights are acquired. 

Powers under which the land is held 

17. One of the key principles behind the concept of ‘as of right’ is that for a right to be 
acquired, the users must effectively begin as trespassers. If the users are not 
trespassers (i.e. they are there by virtue of an existing right or with the permission 
of the landowner), then their use is not ‘as of right’ and it will not count towards 
the acquisition of new rights. This point is particularly important where land is 
owned by a local authority and, as such, where the application site is held by a 
local authority, it is important to determine the powers under which that authority 
originally acquired and now holds the land in order to establish whether the use of 
the land by the local residents has been ‘as of right’.

18. As noted above, it is the District Council’s position that the application site is held 
under the Public Health Act 1875. Section 164 of this Act provides that ‘any urban 
authority may purchase or take on lease, lay out, plant, improve and maintain 
lands for the purpose of being used as public walks or pleasure grounds...’. It is 
the District Council’s case that land which is held under this provision is not 
capable of registration as a Town or Village Green. 

1
 R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385 

Page 79



19.There is strong judicial support for the proposition that land which is held by a 
local authority for the purposes of public recreation is the subject of a statutory 
trust, with members of the public being the beneficiaries of the trust. In 
Beresford2, the House of Lords considered that “where land is vested in a local 
authority on a statutory trust... inhabitants of the locality are beneficiaries of a 
statutory trust of a public nature, and it would be very difficult to regard those who 
use the park or other open space as trespassers... the position would be the 
same if there were no statutory trust in the strictest sense, but land had been 
appropriated for the purpose of public recreation”.

20. This means that, as beneficiaries of a public trust, those using the land are not 
considered to be trespassers; their use is in exercise of an existing right (whether 
or not they are aware of the existence of that right). Such use will therefore be ‘by 
right’ and not ‘as of right’. It is therefore essential to determine whether, in fact, 
the application site, is held by the District Council under such powers. 

The 1923 Conveyance 

21. In support of the assertion that the land is held under the Public Health Act 1875 
(“the 1875 Act”), the District Council has provided a copy of the original 
Conveyance dated 1923 which provides for the transfer of land in the area 
(including the application site) from the original landowner to the then Corporation 
of Margate (predecessor of Thanet District Council). 

22. However, the Conveyance is not explicit in setting out the powers under which the 
Corporation of Margate acquired the land and there is no direct reference to the 
1875 Act. Nonetheless, there are oblique references to section 44 of the Public 
Health Acts Amendment Act 1890 (“the 1890 Act”) and section 71 of the Margate 
Corporation Act 1900 (“the 1900 Act”). 

23. The map accompanying the Conveyance (copy attached at Appendix D) shows 
an area of land coloured green (which is referred to in the Conveyance as “the 
Green land”) and the foreshore to the north is shown white. Although the 
Conveyance transfers ownership of both the Green land and the foreshore to the 
Corporation of Margate, these two areas are treated very differently in terms of 
the provisions that apply. For example, in the Conveyance, the references to the 
1890 Act and the 1900 Act (discussed above) apply only to the land shown 
coloured green. 

24. The applicant’s case is that the application site actually relates to a piece of land 
below the cliffs, forming part of what was then foreshore, and which does not form 
part of the Green land on the map accompanying the Conveyance. The situation 
is somewhat confused by the fact that the geography of the area has changed 
considerably since the 1923 Conveyance due to the construction of the sea wall 
and the lower Promenade (circa 1930). The applicant asserts that the land 
consisting of the application site was created at the same time as the construction 
of the sea wall and the Promenade and therefore would not have been in 
existence at the time that the District Council asserts that it was acquired by its 
predecessor under the Public Health Act 1875. If the applicant is correct in this 

2 R(Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2003] UKHL 60 at paragraph 87 per Lord Walker

Page 80



assertion, then there is no definitive evidence, one way or the other, as to how the 
land is held by the District Council. 

25. The District Council’s position is that the land is already held for the purposes of 
public recreation. However, despite extensive research, the District Council been 
unable to find any further documentation to assist on the question of 
appropriation. Their records include a note to the effect that the land was acquired 
under the Public Health Act 1875, but no further information is provided (such as 
the section of the 1875 Act used or the actual date of appropriation). 

26. By using electronic mapping technology to superimpose a modern base map onto 
the 1923 Conveyance map, it would appear that the applicant is correct in his 
assertion that the vast majority application site consists of what was then 
foreshore and not ‘the Green land’ referred to in the Conveyance (see plan at 
Appendix E). This means the Conveyance does not assist in determining the 
powers of appropriation used. The application site almost certainly, as the 
applicant suggests, came into existence as a result of the construction of the sea 
wall, at least seven years after the Conveyance was completed. If the land had 
been appropriated post-construction, one would expect to see Council minutes or 
formal records to this effect, but no such evidence has been located. 

27. Even supposing that the above logic is wrong, the Conveyance alone is unclear in 
its intentions. The two references to statutes are conflicting; section 44 of the 
Public Health Acts Amendment Act 1890 applies to parks or pleasure grounds 
whilst section 71 of the Margate Corporation Act 1900 applies to recreation 
grounds. Furthermore, the powers referred to are powers of general management 
(e.g. to close the land for a period of days) rather than formal powers or 
acquisition or appropriation. 

Actual use of the application site

28. Having established the view that the land is not held by the District Council under 
any specific power for the purposes of public recreation, it is important to consider 
whether the actual use of the application site has been ‘as of right’. 

29. In this case, it is clear that local residents have had unhindered access to the site 
within living memory and continue to do so. There is no evidence of any attempt 
to exclude recreational users. Some of the witnesses refer to the fact that there 
were occasions when they could not access the whole of the site, but this was 
due to informal camping (i.e. other recreational users) rather than any overt action 
by the landowner to prevent use. 

30. Indeed, as stated above, the landowner is well aware of the recreational usage of 
the land and has, in the past, actively encouraged use of the application site by 
installing picnic tables and a bench. There is therefore no suggestion that the 
actual use of the application site has not been ‘as of right’. 

(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and 
pastimes?

31. Lawful sports and pastimes can be commonplace activities including dog walking, 
children playing, picnicking and kite-flying. It is not necessary to demonstrate that  

Page 81



both sporting activities and pastimes have taken place since the phrase ‘lawful 
sports and pastimes’ has been interpreted by the Courts as being a single 
composite group rather than two separate classes of activities3.

32. Legal principle does not require that rights of this nature be limited to certain 
ancient pastimes (such as maypole dancing) or for organised sports or communal 
activities to have taken place. The Courts have held that ‘dog walking and playing 
with children [are], in modern life, the kind of informal recreation which may be the 
main function of a village green’4.

33. In this case, the evidence demonstrates that the land has been used for a number 
of recreational activities. The summary of evidence of use by local residents at 
Appendix C shows the full range of activities claimed to have taken place. The 
majority of use consists of walking (with or without dogs), but there is also 
significant evidence of the use of the land for nature observation, playing with 
children or simply stopping to admire the view. In addition, several of the 
witnesses refer to observing use for camping (mentioned above), kite flying and 
ball games. 

34. Reference is made by several witnesses to picnicking on the site, although it is 
not clear whether this has taken place throughout the material period. The 
evidence suggests that there were picnic tables installed on the site, but these 
were only there for a relatively short period. The 2003 aerial photograph at 
Appendix F shows the remains of concrete bases upon which picnic tables were 
once sited. It also shows the location of the bench on the application site, as well 
as a number of informal worn pathways created by recreational walkers and, 
coincidentally, what appears to be camping on the application site. 

(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular 
locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality? 

35. The right to use a Town or Village Green is restricted to the inhabitants of a 
locality, or of a neighbourhood within a locality, and it is therefore important to be 
able to define this area with a degree of accuracy so that the group of people to 
whom the recreational rights are attached can be identified.  

“locality”

36. The definition of locality for the purposes of a Town or Village Green application 
has been the subject of much debate in the Courts. In the Cheltenham Builders5

case, it was considered that ‘…at the very least, Parliament required the users of 
the land to be the inhabitants of somewhere that could sensibly be described as a 
locality… there has to be, in my judgement, a sufficiently cohesive entity which is 
capable of definition’. The judge later went on to suggest that this might mean that 
locality should normally constitute ‘some legally recognised administrative division 
of the county’.

3
R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385 

4
R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed [1995] 70 P&CR 487 at 508 and approved by Lord 

Hoffman in R v. Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385 
5
 R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd.) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at 90

Page 82



37.The Applicant specifies the locality at Part 6 of the application form as 
“Westbrook/Garlinge/Westgate”. This is not a legally recognised administrative 
unit and would not constitute a valid locality for the purposes of Town or Village 
Green registration.

38. However, when plotting the location of the users on a map it is clear that the vast 
majority reside in the District Council electoral ward of Westbrook. This is shown 
on the plan at Appendix F. An electoral ward is a legally recognised 
administrative unit for the purposes of Village Green registration6. It therefore 
seems appropriate that this should be the relevant locality. 

“a significant number” 

39. The word “significant” in this context does not mean considerable or substantial: 
‘a neighbourhood may have a very limited population and a significant number of 
the inhabitants of such a neighbourhood might not be so great as to properly be 
described as a considerable or a substantial number… what matters is that the 
number of people using the land in question has to be sufficient to indicate that 
the land is in general use by the community for informal recreation rather than 
occasional use by individuals as trespassers’7. Thus, what constitutes a 
‘significant number’ will depend upon the local environment and will vary in each 
case depending upon the location of the application site. 

40. In this case, there appears to have been regular use of the land by a large 
number of local residents and this is evidenced by the large number of user 
evidence forms submitted in support of the application. The application is 
supported by 115 user evidence questionnaires from persons living in the locality, 
demonstrating use of the application site over a considerable period. This is a not 
an insignificant number and it is considered that the volume of use would have 
been sufficient to indicate that the land in question was in general use by the local 
community. Indeed, as stated above, the District Council has been well aware of 
the use of the land by local residents. 

41. It should be noted that the fact that not all of the users live within the locality is not 
fatal to the application and the Courts have accepted that the legal test does not 
require the applicant to demonstrate use merely by the residents of the locality: 
“provided that a significant number of the inhabitants of the locality or 
neighbourhood are among the users, it matters not that many or even most come 
from elsewhere”8.

(d) Whether use of the land by the inhabitants is continuing up until the date of 
application or meets one of the criteria set out in sections 15(3) or (4)? 

42. The Commons Act 2006 requires use of the land to have taken place ‘as of right’ 
up until the date of application or, if such use has ceased prior to the making of 
the application, to fulfil one of the alternative criterion set out in sections 15(3) and 
15(4) of the 2006 Act (as set out at paragraph 4 above).

6
Leeds Group plc v Leeds City Council [2010] EWHC 810 (Ch) 

7
R (Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd.) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 at paragraph 71 

8
R (Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust) v Oxfordshire County 

Council [2010] EWHC 530 (Admin)

Page 83



43. In this case, use of the application site ‘as of right’ has continued unhindered until 
the date of the application. Therefore, this test is met. 

(e) Whether use has taken place over a period of twenty years or more?

44. In order to qualify for registration, it must be shown that the land in question has 
been used for a full period of twenty years. In this case, use of the applications 
site as of right is continuing and, as such, the relevant twenty-year period (“the 
material period”) is calculated retrospectively from the date of the application, i.e. 
1989 to 2009. 

45. The user evidence summarised at Appendix C demonstrates that there has been 
use of the application site in excess of the last twenty years. Therefore, it can be 
concluded that there has been use of the application site for a full period of twenty 
years.

Conclusion

46. From close consideration of the evidence submitted, I have concluded that the 
legal tests concerning the registration of the land as a Town Green (as set out 
above) have been met. 

Recommendation

47. I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant that the application to 
register the land adjacent to Barnes Car Park at Westbrook has been accepted, 
and that the land subject to the application be formally registered as a Town 
Green.

Accountable Officer:
Dr. Linda Davies – Tel: 01622 221500 or Email: linda.davies@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Miss. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 01622 221511 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Environment and Waste 
Division, Environment and Regeneration Directorate, Invicta House, County Hall, 
Maidstone. Please contact the case officer for further details. 

Background documents 

APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B – Copy of application form 
APPENDIX C – Table summarising user evidence 
APPENDIX D – Extract of plan accompanying 1923 Conveyance 
APPENDIX E – Modern base map overlaying 1923 Conveyance 
APPENDIX F – Aerial photograph of the application site (dated 2003) 
APPENDIX G – Plan showing the area within which users reside 

Page 84



W
estb

ro
ok

Pro
m

enade

Mean High Water

Shin
gle

G
ro

y
n

e

Posts

58

41

28

54

3
4

Sub Sta

El

52
48

3
4

47

ROYAL ESPLAADE
14.3m

3
5

50

51 53

2
3

38 40

45

B
O

W
E

S
A

V
E

N
U

E

2
4

2
1

2
4

2
5

1
5

E
D

M
A

N
S

O
N

A
V

E
N

U
E

5
9

1
4

164

6

2

1

136

4

1
4

148
156

5

138

170

12.5m

LB

179

181

161

12.5m

163 159a

171
165

WESTBROOK AVENUE

Picnic Site

Posts

GardenSunken

Slipway

Posts

44
46

3
3

LB

41

3
6

14.6m

37

3
1

3
2

38

2
3

F
IT

Z
M

A
R

Y
A

V
E

N
U

E

2
6

1
5

2
3

G
R

E
S

H
A

M
A

V
E

N
U

E

2
2

1
5

3335

134a

134
128

130

1
4

2

1
1
1

122

1
2

112

116

2

1
1
1

151

14.6m

149
159

137
135

15.9m

133

139
143

110

141

1

Posts

104 100

P
ath

Slipway

Shingle

Rock

Car Park

Sand

Path

Path

633250.000000

633250.000000

633500.000000

633500.000000

1
7

0
2

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
7

0
2

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
7

0
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
7

0
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
7

0
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
7

0
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

µ
Scale 1:2500

Land subject to Village Green application
at Westgate, near Margate

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing application site

Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Name Period
of use 

Frequency Activities Other comments 

Mr. and Mrs. M. 
ADAMS

1966 – 
present 

Not stated Walking, sitting, bird 
watching, kite flying, 
playing with children 

Mr. J. 
ASHMORE

1964 – 
present 

Monthly Not stated  

Mrs. J. 
ATKINSON

1999 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking Prevented from using the land 
by campers 

Mrs. B. 
BALSOM

Weekly Dog walking  

Mr. A. BEACH 1985 – 
2007

Very
frequently 

Watching ships, bird 
watching, walking, wild 
flour observation 

“used to be a very pleasant 
picnic area maintained by 
Thanet DC until they removed 
the tables and chairs for 
renovation” 

Mr. S. BIRD 1980 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, playing with 
children

Observed children playing 
football and cricket 

Mr. and Mrs. N. 
BLAKE

1986 – 
present 

Daily Walking  

Mr. and Mrs. C. 
BOARER

1981 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking and walking  

Mrs. S. 
BRIDGER 

2006 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, playing with 
children, bike riding, 
watching boats 

Mr. S. BRIGGS 2004 – 
present 

Weekly Dog walking 

Mrs. E. BROWN 1959 – 
present 

Variable Dog walking, bird 
watching, played as a child 

Observed occasional camping 

Mrs. J. BROWN 1991 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, cycling, 
playing ball, picnics 

Ms. P. CALVER 1991 – 
present 

Weekly Walking 

Mr. L. 
CARLTON 

1998 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, sitting at 
picnic tables 

“when the seats were there, a 
nice spot to rest and take in the 
view...”

Mrs. M. 
CARLTON 

20+
years

Almost daily Dog walking, walking, 
cycling 

Mrs. A. 
CLEMINSON 

1971 – 
present 

Not stated Walking, picnicking, 
watching ships and sea 
sports, enjoying cliffs 

Observed walking, picnicking, 
fishing, cycling, bird watching. 
There is a narrow path formed 
by frequent use. 

Mr. N. 
CLEMINSON 

1970 – 
present 

Daily or 
weekly 

Hockey, cricket, summer 
club for kids. Now use for 
dog walking and bird 
watching

Mr. G. COLYER 1949 – 
present 

Daily Walking, picnics, children’s 
games 

Mr. and Mrs. 
DARBY

1986 – 
present 

Twice daily Dog walking, picnicking, 
nature studies, playing with 
children

Ms. L. DEAKIN 2005 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking 

Mrs. M. 
DENNISON 

1972 – 
present 

Daily,
sometimes 
weekly 

Walking Often see use by others 

Mr. K. DENT 2005 – 
present 

Daily Walking, dog walking, sea 
views 

Mr. G. DIXON 2000 – 
present 

Daily Walking, dog walking, 
nature observation 

APPENDIX C: 
Summary of user evidence submitted 

in support of the application 

Page 95



Mr. and Mrs. J. 
DOBSON 

1999 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, bird 
watching, picnics, views of 
sea

Mr. and Mrs. 
DUNGEY 

2000 – 
present 

Daily Walking (with and without 
dogs) 

Mr. and Mrs. B. 
FARRELL 

1974 – 
present 

Weekly Nature observation “I usually make a detour from 
the promenade...” 

Mr. P. 
FARRELL 

1957 – 
present 

Weekly, more 
in summer 

Dog walking, relaxing sea 
views 

Used as a child for picnics, 
football and bike riding. 

Mr. and Mrs. S. 
FAURE

1985 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, bird watching  

Miss. V. 
FETISSOVA

2000 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, playing with 
children

“local teenagers use the space 
for BMX sports activities” 

Mr. and Mrs. D. 
FULLER 

1976 – 
present 

Weekly Dog exercising, bird 
watching, nature 
observation

Picnic tables were cited there by 
the Council at one time 

Mr. and Mrs. J. 
GAMBRILL

1949 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking  

Mrs. C. 
GARDNER 

1969 – 
present 

Not stated Sitting on bench to enjoy 
views 

Mr. J. 
GARDNER 

Since
1930s 

Not stated Walking along seaside  

Mr. R. GEORGE 1989 – 
present 

Weekly Dog walking 

Mr. R. 
GIFFORD

1976 – 
present 

Almost daily 
until 1994, 
occasionally 
since 

Dog walking, walking, bird 
watching

Observed horse riding and 
occasional tent camping 

Mr. and Mrs. P. 
GILBERT

1972 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, jogging, 
walking, bird watching, 
playing with children 

Observed kite flying, yoga and 
exercise 

Mrs. V. 
GRANTHAM

2006 – 
present 

Daily Walking, exercising dog, 
bird watching, relaxing 

Commodore. G. 
GREENFIELD

1994 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, bird 
watching, general exercise 

Mrs. J. GRIGG 1960 – 
present 

Weekly Walking, sitting on bench, 
nature observation 

Mrs. J. HAM 1969 – 
present 

Daily Meeting friends, dog 
walking 

Mr. M. 
HEIGHAM

1968 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking Observed other activities “in 
substantial numbers” 

Mrs. P. 
HEIGHAM

1968 – 
present 

Twice weekly Dog walking  

Mrs. P. 
HERMITAGE 

1951 – 
present 

Occasionally 
(daily until 
2004) 

Walking, bird watching, 
relaxing

Mr. H. HEWETT 2003 – 
present 

Weekly Sitting looking at beach, 
sometimes having lunch 

Mr. R. HOLDEN 1954 – 
1968

Weekly Ball games, kite flying, 
cycling, nature observation 

Observed use for sunbathing, 
ball games and kite flying 

Ms. J. HODGE 1998 – 
present 

Weekly, 
sometimes 
daily

Walking, bird watching 

Mr. R. HODGES 1974 – 
present 

Daily Playing with children, 
picnics, dog walking 

Mr. D. HOWES 1950 – 
present 

Occasionally Played there as a child 

Mrs. J. INGRAM 1986 – 
present 

Daily Walking, bird watching, 
observing wildlife and flora, 
sitting 

Mrs. D. JAMES 1980 – 
present 

Weekly/daily Walking, family games, 
picnics, relaxation 

Observed recreational activities 
on a daily basis, including kite 
flying

Mr. A. 
JOHNSON 

2006 – 
present 

Three times 
per week 

Walking dog and 
grandchildren 

Occasionally observed camping 

Mr. and Mrs. J. 1964 – Weekly Walking, sitting Page 96



JOHNSON present 

Dr. R. KELSEY 1982 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, playing with 
children

Mr. and Mrs. D. 
KEMBER

1960 – 
present 

Daily, now 
weekly 

Dog walking and 
recreational walking 

Mr. C. 
KEMEKKI

1972 – 
present 

Occasionally Walking, wildlife observing  

Mrs. M. 
KENEHAN

1986 – 
present 

Weekly Sitting, playing with 
children, picnics, walking 

Observed use for sunbathing, 
horseriding, ball games 

Mrs. S. 
KENEHAN

1963 – 
present 

Frequently Picnics, ball games, 
playing with children. 

Also used for picking 
mushrooms and meeting friends 
when younger 

Mrs. J. 
KESTERTON

1988 – 
present 

Not stated Walking  

Mr. and Mrs. D. 
LAWRENCE 

1979 – 
present 

Weekly or 
daily

Walking, bird watching, 
sitting 

Mr. and Mrs. 
LONG

1979 – 
present 

Daily Walking, dog exercise  

Mr. A. 
LORIMER 

1980 – 
present 

Daily Walking, bird watching  

Mr. J. 
MAHARRY

1979 – 
present 

Daily Walking  

Mrs. S. 
MARSLAND

1952 – 
present 

Daily, or 
weekly 

Walking, bird and sea 
watching, relaxing 

Mrs. J. MARSH 2006 – 
present 

Twice weekly Dog walking, ball games, 
sitting 

Mr. P. MARTIN 1967 – 
present 

Daily,
sometimes 
weekly 

Dog walking, wildlife 
watching, picnics 

Mrs. L. MAYES 1970 – 
present 

Weekly Walking, bird watching Observed camping in summer 

Mr. A. McCALL 1993 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking 

Mrs. N. McCALL 1993 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking 

Mr. and Mrs. W. 
MERRY

1976 – 
present 

Monthly Walking, cycling, fishing, 
observation

Mr. and Mrs. 
MONAGHAN 

2004 – 
present 

Daily Recreational purposes with 
dog and children 

Occasionally observed camping. 
Daily use by others. 

Ms. G. 
MOORES

1960 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, walking 
children, cycling 

Mrs. Y. 
MURPHY 

1956 – 
present 

Weekly Walking, picnics, children’s 
games 

Mr. C. 
NURTHEN 

1998 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, playing with 
children

Mr. and Mrs. G. 
OWEN 

1988 – 
present 

Not stated Dog walking, reading  

Mr. N. PALSER 1969 – 
present 

Weekly Playing with children, 
walking with dog or family 

Mr. and Mrs. C. 
PATRICK

1977 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, playing with 
children

Mr. and Mrs. P. 
PIPER

Not
stated

Weekly, 
previously 
daily

Walking 

Mr. J. POCOCK 1958 – 
present 

Twice daily “easterly part of the land was 
used as picnic area and games 
field (children). Tables fixed and 
supplied by Council and grass 
kept short, but only for a few 
years”

Mr. J. POCOCK 1978 – 
present 

Weekly Dog walking, walking 

Mrs. D. 
POCOCK 

Not
stated

Often, daily in 
summer 

Playing games with 
children, dog walking 

Mr. P. RALPH 1985 – 
2007

Occasionally Walking 
Page 97



Mrs. L. 
RAYNER

1986 – 
present 

Weekly or 
monthly

Ball games, dog walking, 
picnics, cycling 

Mrs. C. READ 1988 – 
present 

Daily Walking, dog walking Observed kite flying 

Mr. and Mrs. P. 
REED

1974 – 
present 

Almost daily Dog walking, relaxing at 
picnic tables, ball games 

Mrs. M. 
REEVES

1967 – 
present 

Not stated Children playing, dog 
walking, picnicking 

Mr. and Mrs. 
ROBERTS

1968 – 
present 

Weekly in 
summer, 
monthly in 
winter

Football, picnics, bike 
riding, kite flying, dog 
walking, cricket 

Ms. L. 
ROBERTS

1953 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, bird 
watching, cycling, playing 
games, picnics, walking 

Mr. R. 
ROBERTS

1946 – 
present 

Summer
months

Playing with children, 
sitting in deckchairs 

Mrs. S. 
ROBERTS

1985 – 
present 

Weekly “the land was once used for picnics... we picnicked there. The 
land is next to the sea promenade and is enjoyed by people 
who appreciate nature. We like walking on this land which we 
have done for several years and many people walk their dogs. 
In the summer, garden chairs can be placed there to enjoy the 
environment and wildlife and birds” 

Mrs. G. ROSS 2000 – 
present 

Not stated Not stated 

Miss. B. 
SHEPHERD

1959 – 
present 

Weekly Walking, sitting on bench, 
nature observation 

Mr. and Mrs. 
SIMPSON

1989 – 
present 

Daily in 
summer, less 
in winter 

Walking, sitting “when the tide is in this is a 
great place to sit and watch 
ships, water sports etc as the 
proms get quite crowded with 
the beach huts” 

Mr. M. 
SKERRATT

1997 – 
present 

Weekly, less 
in winter 

Walking, kite flying, roller 
blading, wildlife watching 

Mr. and Mrs. D. 
SMITH

1949 – 
present 

Not stated Walking, relaxation  

Mr. and Mrs. L. 
SMITH

1945 – 
present 

Weekly Picnics and playing with 
children when young, now 
walking 

Mr. A. SNOW 1973 – 
present 

Daily Walking, cycling, bird 
watching, sitting 

Ms. G. 
SPICKETT

1990 – 
present 

Twice daily Dog walking Observed football, kite flying, 
picnics, bike riding 

Mrs. S. 
STEVENS

1984 – 
present 

Daily Walking, exercising dogs, 
sitting in picnic area when 
table there, enjoying views 

Mrs. M. STILL 1988 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking 

Mr. S. 
SOUTHGATE

1958 – 
present 

Weekly Walking, bird watching  

Mr. R. 
SUTHERLAND 

1999 – 
present 

Weekly Walking along front to see 
sea

Mr. A. SYKES 2000 – 
present 

Weekly Walking, bird watching 

Ms. TAYLOR 1994 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking 

Mr. R. 
TELFORD 

1984 – 
present 

At least 
weekly 

Bird watching, dog walking  

Ms. D. 
THOMAS

1958 – 
present 

Not stated Walking, sitting Observed ball games and BBQs 

Mr. and Mrs. B. 
TITMUS

1955 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking, bird 
watching, playing with 
grandchildren 

Ms. V. VAJANA 2006 – 
present 

2-3 times per 
day

Dog exercising Observed dog walking, 
exercising, children playing, ball 
games Page 98



Mrs. V. 
WARRILOW 

1972 – 
present 

Daily Children’s cycling, walking, 
kite flying, playing 

Observed ball games and 
camping 

Mr. T. WATSON 1986 – 
present 

Regularly 
until 2000, 
now monthly 

Picnics, dog walking 

Mr. and Mrs. D. 
WEBB

1947 – 
present 

Frequently Playing as a child, leisure 
walks and picnics as an 
adult

Mr. C. 
WHITTINGHAM 

1968 – 
present 

Several times 
per week 

Walking, bird watching  

Mr. and Mrs. A. 
WILSON 

1979 – 
present 

Daily Dog walking  

Mr. J. WILSON 1959 – 
present 

Weekly or 
daily

Dog walking, picnics, 
BBQs, sunbathing 

Camping took place on the land 
in summer 1998 and spring 
2002

Mrs. L. 
WOOLMER 

1976 – 
present 

Weekly Dog walking, sitting, 
reading 

Mrs. B. YOUNG 1987 – 
present 

Occasionally Dog walking, playing with 
children, cycling 

Page 99



APPENDIX D: 
Extract of plan accompanying 1923 

Conveyance 

Page 100



633250.000000

633250.000000

1
7

0
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
7

0
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
7

0
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
7

0
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

µ
Scale 1:2500

KEY:

Application site

Area coloured green on the 
1923 Conveyance ("the Green land")

APPENDIX E:
Plan showing modern base map 
overlaying 1923 Conveyance

Page 101



6
3
3

2
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
3

2
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
3

4
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
3

4
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

170600
.000000

170600
.000000

APPENDIX F:
Aerial photograph showing the
application site (dated 2003)

µ
picnic
table
bases

bench

w
estbrook prom

enade

evidence of 

camping

scale 1:1250
Page 102



G
a
rl

in
g

e

W
e
s
tb

ro
o

k

W
e
s
tg

a
te

-o
n

-S
e
a

S
a
lm

e
s
to

n
e

M
a
rg

a
te

 C
e

n
tr

a
l

S
a
lm

e
s
to

n
e

S
a
lm

e
s
to

n
e

T
h

a
n

e
t 

V
il

la
g

e
s

6
3
2

5
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
2

5
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
3

0
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
3

0
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
3

5
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
3

5
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
4

0
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
4

0
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
4

5
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

6
3
4

5
0
0

.0
0

0
0
0

0

169500
.000000

169500
.000000

170000
.000000

170000
.000000

170500
.000000

170500
.000000

171000
.000000

171000
.000000

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office
(c) Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Licence number 10019238 (2010)

²

APPENDIX G:
Plan showing the locality 
within which users reside

Page 103



Page 104

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Application to register land at Mill Lane, Preston as a new Village Green
	3 Application to register land at the High Street, Chiddingstone as a new Village Green
	4 Application to register land known as Gighill Green, Larkfield as a new Village Green
	5 Application to register land at Park Avenue, Broadstairs as a new Town Green
	Item 05 Appendix E

	6 Application to register land adjacent to Barnes Car Park, Westbrook as a new Town Green
	Item 06 Appdices ABCDEF
	Item 06 Appendix G


